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OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:


		Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition is the Joint Petition for Settlement (Joint Petition) filed on October 30, 2018, by the Commission’s Bureau of Investigation & Enforcement (I&E) and Burgly Gas & Oil Company, and/or Burgly Gas & Oil, Inc and/or in the alternative Burgly Drilling Inc. (Burgly Gas & Oil or Burgly) (collectively, the Parties).  The Joint Petition contains terms and conditions representing a comprehensive settlement (Settlement) along with Statements in Support with regard to Burgly’s failure to obtain a certificate of public convenience, failure to properly register its pipeline with the Commission, and failure to properly register with Pennsylvania One Call which resulted in an incident in the City of McKeesport when a McKeesport Public Works excavation crew struck a buried natural gas pipeline that resulted in the release of natural gas and the evacuation of several individuals near the site of the accident.  The Parties submit that the proposed Settlement is in the public interest and is consistent with the Commission’s Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201, Factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations—statement of policy (Policy Statement).  Joint Petition at 11.  For the reasons set forth below, we shall approve the Settlement in its entirety.

History of the Proceeding

On March 17, 2014, I&E filed a Formal Complaint (Complaint) with the Commission against Burgly for its failure to obtain a certificate of public convenience to offer, render, furnish or supply natural gas service and for its failure to properly register its pipeline, which is located in McKeesport, Pennsylvania, with the Commission.  In addition, I&E further alleged that Burgly failed to properly register with Pennsylvania One Call (PA One Call).  I&E sought the following relief in its Complaint: (1) to impose a civil penalty of two million dollars against Burgly; and (2) to order Burgly to comply with all Commonwealth law and regulations as well as federal regulations as adopted by the Commonwealth.

On April 24, 2014, Burgly filed Preliminary Objections to the complaint in which it asserted that it is not a public utility because it serves only a single end-user.

On May 5, 2014, I&E filed an Amended Complaint in which it alleged that on May 21, 2013, a McKeesport Public Works excavation crew struck a buried natural gas pipeline in the City of McKeesport resulting in the release of natural gas.  As a result of the incident, Walnut Street in the city was closed between 15th and 26th Streets.  Five adults, three children and an infant were evacuated from the scene and a forty-year-old male was transported from a business to UPMC McKeesport after reporting feeling ill.

I&E further alleged that at all relevant times at least one of the Respondents was the owner and operator of the natural gas utility pipeline and each of the Respondents is subject to the minimum safety standards for all natural gas pipelines in the Commonwealth.  The subject pipeline starts at a gas well that is located behind a dealership at 637 Eden Park Boulevard, McKeesport and has been supplying natural gas for compensation through a meter to Christy Park Industries since it was constructed in approximately 1970.  In addition, I&E alleged that at the time of the incident, the Burgly companies were not members of the PA One Call system and the pipeline’s location was not marked prior to excavation.  Additionally, none of the Burgly entities have ever filed for a certificate of public convenience to provide natural gas utility service through the pipeline.  Furthermore, none of these three entities reported the incident to the Commission or warned the public of the existence of the pipeline by placing and maintaining pipeline markers as close as practical over the pipeline.  The failure to mark the pipeline caused additional problems and delays during the incident because no one was aware of the exact location of the pipeline.  Burgly also never registered the pipeline with the Commission pursuant to the Pennsylvania Gas and Hazardous Liquids Pipelines Act (Act 127) and never paid the annual assessment pursuant to Act 127.  

I&E noted that as of the date of the Amended Complaint, Burgley Gas & Oil still had not applied to the Commission to become a certified public utility; had not registered to become a member of the PA One Call system; had not registered, as pipeline operators, the pipeline with the Commission; and had not paid the annual assessment pursuant to Act 127.

As a result of Burgly’s conduct, I&E alleged that Burgly Gas & Oil: (1) violated Section 1101 of the Code, 66 Pa.C.S. § 1101, from the date it began furnishing service until the time it files an application for certificate of public convenience or cease furnishing service; (2) violated Section 192.797 of the federal regulations, 49 CFR § 192.707, by and through 52 Pa. Code § 59.33 from the date the natural gas pipeline was completed until the time Burgly properly marks the pipeline as close as practical over its buried natural gas pipeline; (3) violated Section 192.614(a) of the federal regulations, 49 CFR § 192.614(a), and Section 59.33 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 59.33, from the date the pipeline was completed until Burgly properly maintains a written damage prevention program regarding the pipeline; (4) violated Section 192.614(b), 49 CFR § 192.614(b) and Section 59.33 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 59.33, from the date the pipeline was completed until such time Burgly registers with and participates in the Pa One Call system; (5) violated Section 59.11 of the Code, 52 Pa. Code § 59.11, when it failed to submit a report to the Commission of a reportable accident of the May 21, 2013 incident; and (6) violated 58 P.S. §§ 801.301 and 801.503 by failing to register the pipeline with the Commission and pay Act 127 annual assessments to the Commission.

I&E requested the following relief in its Complaint: (1) that Burgly be ordered to pay the maximum allowable civil penalty in the amount of $2,000,000; (2) that Burgly not be permitted to recover any portion of the civil penalty through rates; (3) that Burgly be ordered to cease and desist from committing any further violations of gas safety regulations; and (4) that Burgly be ordered to take the actions necessary to comply with all Commonwealth laws and regulations as well as all federal regulations and to implement the programs and procedure to correct all violations of gas pipeline safety regulations.

On May 23, 2014, Burgly Gas & Oil filed Preliminary Objections to the Amended Complaint.  Burgly Gas & Oil raised five grounds for its Preliminary Objections.  Those grounds include: (1) lack of Commission jurisdiction; (2) insufficient specificity of pleading as it is not a public utility since there is a single well and single pipeline that supplies natural gas for compensation to Christy Park Industries; (3) insufficient specificity of pleading as it is fails to state how the Federal Regulations apply to the pipeline as the Commission does not have authority over violations of Federal Regulations; (4) insufficient specificity of pleading as it is fails to state facts to sustain a claim that Burgly is a public utility; and (5) insufficient specificity of pleading as it is fails to state facts sufficient for sustaining a cause of action pursuant to the federal violations alleged since the pipeline is a production line used in the production of natural gas and not regulated under the Federal Regulations.

During the investigation, the Parties entered into negotiations and agreed to resolve this informal investigation in accordance with the Commission’s policy to promote settlements at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231.  The Parties filed the instant Settlement on October 30, 2018.

		By Order entered January 17, 2019 (January 17 Order), the Commission provided interested parties with the opportunity to file comments to the proposed Settlement within twenty days of the date of entry of the January 17 Order, or by February 7, 2019.  No comments were filed.

Background

Pursuant to 58 P.S. § 801.501(a), the Commission is authorized and obligated to supervise and regulate pipeline operators within the Commonwealth consistent with Federal Pipeline Safety Laws.  Burgly owns and/or operates conventional and unconventional gas production and gathering pipeline facilities in Pennsylvania.  Consequently, Burgly is a “pipeline operator” as defined in 58 P.S. § 801.102 since it “owns or operates equipment or facilities in this Commonwealth for the transportation of gas or hazardous liquids by pipeline or pipeline facility regulated under Federal pipeline safety laws.”  58 P.S. § 801.102.  Section 502(a), 58 P.S. § 802.502(a), authorizes the Commission to impose civil penalties on pipeline operators for violations.  A pipeline may be subject to the civil penalty provided under Federal Pipeline Safety Laws or Section 3301(c) of the Code, 66 Pa. C. S. § 3301(c), whichever is greater.

Had the matter been litigated, I&E would have alleged that Burgly violated certain provisions of the Code, the Commission’s regulations, Act 127 and the Code of Federal Regulations in that:

· Burgly did not properly place and maintain markers as close as practical over its buried natural gas pipeline.  If proven, this is a violation of 49 C.F.R. 66 Pa. C.S. § 192.707 and 52 Pa. Code § 59.33.
· Burgly did not register with and participate in the PA One Call damage prevention program regarding its pipeline.  If proven, this is a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.614(b) and 66 Pa.C.S. § 59.33.
· Burgly failed to register its pipeline with the Commission and failed to pay associated annual assessment(s) to the Commission.  If proven, this is a violation of 58 P.S. § 801.301 and 58 P.S. § 801.503.

There has been no evidentiary hearing before any tribunal and no sworn testimony taken.  Burgly would have contended that it did not violate the provisions of the Code, the Commission’s regulations, Act 127 or the Code of Federal Regulations.  Settlement at 4.

		In advance of the Settlement, Burgly began to take corrective actions.  Specifically, on or about November 2014, Burgly registered its pipeline with PA One Call, as required by 49 C.F.R. § 192.614(b).  In addition, on January 9, 2017, Burgly registered as an Act 127 Pennsylvania Pipeline Operator. See Docket No. A-2017-2584015.  Furthermore, Burgly has complied with the requirements of Act 127, as set forth in 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq, including, but not limited to, timely paying Act 127 annual assessments, placing markers over the pipeline as required by Act 127 and preparing and maintaining a Damage Prevention Plan.  Burgly was still compliant with Act 127 at the time the Settlement was filed.  Settlement at 5.

Terms of the Settlement

Pursuant to the proposed Settlement, Burgly agreed, inter alia, to do the following:

· Shall continue to comply with the requirements of Act 127 going forward, as specified in 58 P.S. §§ 801.101, et seq., including, but not limited to, timely paying Act 127 annual assessments.
· Shall continue to properly place markers as close as practical over its buried natural gas pipeline(s), both existing and future, as required by 49 C.F.R. § 192.707.
· Shall continue to conduct leakage surveys in accordance with 49 C.F.R. § 192.706 using leak detection equipment and promptly repair hazardous leaks that are discovered in accordance with § 192.703(c).
· Has prepared and shall maintain a written damage prevention program, as required by 49 C.F.R. § 192.614.  This damage prevention program shall be submitted to the Commission’s Pipeline Safety Division for review.


Settlement at 6.

In addition, Burgly shall complete the above actions within sixty days after the date of entry of a final Commission Order approving the Settlement in its entirety without modification or amendment.  Id.  Furthermore, Burgly shall pay a civil penalty in the amount of eighty thousand dollars, $80,000, pursuant to 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301, to resolve the alleged violations included herein.  Id.  The payment shall be made within sixty days after the date of entry of a final Commission Order approving the Settlement in its entirety without modification or amendment.  Id.  Finally, this payment shall not be claimed or included for recovery in future ratemaking proceedings, nor shall it be considered tax deductible.  Id.

I&E submits that the Settlement is in the public interest and fully satisfies I&E’s significant safety concerns in this matter.  Also, as of the date the Commission approves the Joint Petition and Settlement, I&E agrees to hold harmless, release and forever forbear from further prosecuting any formal complaint relating to Burgly’s conduct that is the subject of this Complaint and as described in the Joint Petition up to the Effective Date.  Settlement at 8.

Discussion

Initially, we note that any issue or argument that we do not specifically address shall be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.  The Commission is not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the Parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); also see generally, University of Pennsylvania v Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984).

Pursuant to our Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 5.231, it is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  The Commission must review proposed settlements to determine whether the terms are in the public interest.  Pa. PUC v Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket No. M-00031768 (Order entered January 7, 2004).  After a review of the terms of the Settlement, we find that it is in the public interest.

The Commission has promulgated a Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201 that sets forth ten factors that we may consider in evaluating whether a civil penalty for violating a Commission order, regulation or statute is appropriate, as well as if a proposed settlement for a violation is reasonable and approval of the settlement agreement is in public interest.  The Policy Statement sets forth the guidelines we use when determining whether, and to what extent, a civil penalty is warranted.  In this case, application of these guidelines supports approval of the Settlement.  The Commission will not apply the standards as strictly in settled cases as in litigated cases 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(b).

The first factor we may consider is whether the conduct at issue is of a serious nature.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(1).  “When conduct of a serious nature is involved, such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as administrative filing or technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.”  Id.  I&E submits that the violations are serious in nature in the Burgly did not register its pipeline with PA One Call and did not place markers over the buried pipeline.  I&E Statement in Support at 6.  As such Burgly’s conduct resulted in serious public safety concerns.  Id.  Furthermore, the Commission was not even aware of the existence of the pipeline because Burgly had not obtained a certificate of public convenience from the Commission to operate as is required by law.  Id.  I&E submits that the seriousness of the conduct as well as Burgly’s acknowledgement of the serious nature of the matter and its steps to mitigate further harm in this case, were considered in determining the agreed civil penalty amount in the Settlement.  Id at 6-7.  Burgly contends that the pipeline was exempt from registration and the regulations as it was a production line.  Furthermore, took steps to ensure that all local municipalities and authorities were aware of the location of the pipeline.  Burgly Statement in Support at 5.  Furthermore, regardless of those statements, Burgly took steps to mitigate possible future harm and is currently complaint.  Id.  For these reasons, the agreed upon civil penalty is appropriate under these circumstances.

The second factor is whether the resulting consequences of the conduct are of a serious nature.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(2).  “When consequences of a serious nature are involved, such as personal injury or property damage, the consequences may warrant a higher penalty.”  Id.  I&E states that there were two minor injuries and property damage to the drill rig.  I&E Statement in Support at 7.  Furthermore, the seriousness of the incident and Burgly’s corrective actions have been taken into consideration to lower the civil penalty amount of $80,000.  Id.

		The third factor pertains to litigated cases only.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(3).  Because this proceeding was settled, this factor is not applicable to this Settlement.  I&E Statement in Support at 7.

		The fourth factor is whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future.  The amount of time it took the utility to correct the conduct once it was discovered and the involvement of top-level management in correcting the conduct may be considered.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(4).  As set forth in the Statement of Support of the Settlement, Burgly took several steps to avoid any recurrence including:  (1) registering with PA One Call; (2) filing an application as an Act 127 Pipeline Operator; (3) installing pipeline markers as close as practical to its pipeline and conducting leakage surveys of the pipeline, and (4) implementing and maintaining a damage prevention program that has been submitted to the Commission’s Pipeline Safety Division.  I&E Statement in Support at 8.  This supports the lower agreed upon civil penalty.

		The fifth factor is the number of customers affected and the duration of the violations.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(5).  I&E submits that although Burgly only serves only one customer and the customer was affected by the incident I&E submits that the surrounding residents, were affected both by being evacuated and by suffering medical symptoms due to natural gas exposure even though they were not customers of Burgly.  I&E and Burgly considered this factor in lowering of the civil penalty. I&E Statement in Support at 8.

		The sixth factor that may be considered is the compliance history of the regulated entity.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(6).  “An isolated incident from an otherwise compliant utility may result in a lower penalty, whereas frequent, recurrent violations by a utility my result in a higher penalty.”  Id.  Here, Burgly has no substantive compliance history with the Commission.  In fact, a review of Commission records by I&E did not reveal any past matters relating to safety concerns with Burgly and it has not had any complaints or investigations initiated since the filing of this Complaint.  I&E Statement in Support at 8.  I&E submits that this factor warrants a lower penalty against Burgly.

		Another factor we may consider is whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission’s investigation.  52 Pa. Code § 69.120(c)(7).  According to I&E, the Company cooperated throughout the investigation, complaint and settlement processes and complied with the requested remedial measures.  I&E Statement in Support at 9.  Thus, we find this factor leans toward a lower penalty.

		The eighth factor we may consider is the amount of the civil penalty or fine necessary to deter future violations.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(8).  I&E submits that a civil penalty in the amount of $80,000, that may not be claimed or included for recovery in future ratemaking proceedings, together with the costs of the terms of the settlement set forth above, is substantial and sufficient to deter Burgly from committing future violations.  I&E Statement in Support at 9.

		The ninth factor we may consider involves past Commission decisions in similar situations.  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(9).  I&E’s review of Act 127 Pipeline Operator matters reveals a couple of similar cases.  In one instance the Commission approved a settlement imposing a civil penalty of $25,000 on a utility for failing to register as an Act 127 Pipeline Operator and for failing to pay annual assessments.  Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, I&E v Brookhaven MHP Management LLC, Meadowview Management LLC, Mill Creek MHP Management LLC, Northwood Manor Management LLC and ATG Properties LLC d/b/a Greenleaf Gas Company, 2018 WL 4185465.  In the second instance the Commission approved a settlement assessing a civil penalty of $15,000 where a third-party excavator struck a natural gas main and only minor injuries and damage resulted from the incident.  Pa Pub. Util. Comm’n I&E v PECO Energy Company, Docket No. C-2015-2514773 (Order entered April 20, 2017).  I&E submits that a higher civil penalty is justified due to the length of time that Burgly operated while not registered with the Commission or with PA One Call, from around 1970 until just recently, and due to the medical care required as to the gas leak.  I&E Statement in Support at 9.  Therefore, the civil penalty agreed upon in the Settlement is consistent with past Commission decisions and is a fair and reasonable outcome.  Id.  Consequently, the agreed upon civil penalty in the Settlement is appropriate.

		The tenth factor to consider is other “relevant factors.”  52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c)(10).  I&E states that reflects a carefully balanced compromise of the Parties’ interests and that approval of the Settlement is in the public interest.  I&E Statement at 10.  Furthermore, acceptance of the Settlement would avoid further proceedings, administrative as well as possible appellate proceedings and would have been at a substantial cost to the Parties.  Id.  Therefore, approving the Settlement is in the public interest.

		For the reasons set forth above, and after reviewing the terms of the Settlement, we find that approval of the Settlement is in the public interest and consistent with the terms of our Policy Statement and our past decisions.

Conclusion

It is the Commission’s policy to promote settlements.  52 Pa. Code § 5.231.  The Parties herein have provided the Commission with sufficient information upon which to thoroughly consider the terms of the proposed Settlement.  Based on our review of the record in this case, we find that the proposed Settlement between I&E and Burgly Gas & Oil Company, and/or Burgly Gas & Oil, Inc and/or in the alternative Burgly Drilling Inc.  is in the public interest and merits approval.  Thus, we shall grant the Joint Petition, and thereby, approve the Settlement in its entirety, consistent with this Opinion and Order.  THEREFORE,

		IT IS ORDERED:

		1.	That the Joint Petition for Settlement that was filed on October 30, 2018 by the Commission’s Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement and Burgly Gas & Oil Company, and/or Burgly Gas & Oil, Inc and/or in the alternative Burgly Drilling Inc., is granted, and the Settlement is hereby approved in its entirety without modification.

		2.	That, within sixty (60) days after the date of entry of this Opinion and Order, Burgly Gas & Oil Company, and/or Burgly Gas & Oil, Inc and/or in the alternative Burgly Drilling Inc. shall pay a civil penalty of $80,000, by certified check or money order payable to the “Commonwealth of Pennsylvania” with the docket number (i.e., Docket No. C-2014-2411284) of this proceeding listed, and be sent to:

			Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary
			Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
			Commonwealth Keystone Building
			400 North Street
			Harrisburg, PA  17120

3.	That upon receipt of the payment of $80,000 by Burgly Gas & Oil Company, and/or Burgly Gas & Oil, Inc and/or in the alternative Burgly Drilling Inc. as directed by Ordering Paragraph No. 2, above, this proceeding be marked closed.

		4.	That a copy of this Opinion and Order shall be served upon the Financial and Assessment Chief, Office of Administrative Services.

[bookmark: _GoBack][image: ]BY THE COMMISSION,

	


Rosemary Chiavetta
Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  March 14, 2019

ORDER ENTERED:  March 14, 2019
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